1999

Lee O. Barney v. Jon D. Siddoway : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann., §78-2-2(3)(k) (1953) as amended. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(4), the Supreme Court transferred this matter to the Utah Court of Appeals. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter, upon transfer by the Supreme Court, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-2(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES & STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court erroneously concluded as a matter of law that Appellee was entitled to 25% ownership in a corporation owned by Appellant and Appellee, where there is undisputed evidence that Appellee had purchased only 14.5% ownership in the corporation, and the only evidence supporting the trial court's findings that Appellee is entitled to an additional 10.5% ownership is the existence of monies on the corporation's books that were owed to Appellee and the testimony of Appellee's wife that Appellant had taken unequal compensation. Conclusions of law are reviewed under a "correctness" standard. *England v. Horbach*, 944 P.2d 340, 342 (Utah 1997). This issue was preserved repeatedly during the trial of this action and during post trial proceedings. An illustrative example of appellant's preservation of this issue is found at pages 454-60 of the Transcript.

2. Whether the trial court erred in allowing Appellee's wife ("Mrs. Barney") to testify regarding the company's business records without being qualified as and accounting expert. Decisions to admit or exclude expert testimony is an

abuse-of-discretion standard. *Steffensen v. Smith's Management Corporation*, 862 P.2d 1342 (Utah 1993). Appellant preserved this issue by objecting at pages 294-99 of the Transcript.

3. Whether the trial court erred by receiving into evidence improper summaries compiled by Mrs. Barney when the summaries consisted of improper hearsay evidence not compiled in the normal course of business. Decisions on the admissibility of evidence are questions of law which are reviewed for correctness. *State of Utah, v. Ramirez*, 817 P.2d 774, 782 (Utah 1991); *Grayson Roper Ltd. Partnership v. Finlinson*, 782 P.2d 467, 470 (Utah 1989). Appellant preserved this issue by objecting to the introduction of summaries at pages 294, 298-302, 307, 309-11, 313-14, 321, 323, and 324-25 of the Transcript.

4. Whether the Court erred by refusing to allow Siddoway to cross-examine Mrs. Barney regarding her summaries of STI business records and by refusing to allow Siddoway to offer testimony to rebut Mrs. Barney's testimony and Summaries. Decisions to admit or exclude testimony is an abuse-of-discretion standard. *Steffensen v. Smith's Management Corporation*, 862 P.2d 1342 (Utah 1993). Appellant preserved this issue by pretrial motion to exclude Mrs. Barney's summaries on pages 4-7, 348, 352, 360, and 365 and 458, of the Transcript.

STATEMENT OF DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND PROVISIONS

1. Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 602. Lack of personal knowledge.

A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced

sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter. Evidence to prove personal knowledge may, but need not, consist of the witness' own testimony. This rule is subject to the provisions of Rule 703, relating to opinion testimony by expert witnesses.

2. Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 702. Testimony by experts.

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

3. Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 803(6). Hearsay Exceptions. (Records of Regularly Conducted Activity)

A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, transmitted by, a person with knowledge, if kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity, and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make the memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness, unless the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate lack of trustworthiness.

4. Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 1006. Summaries.

The contents of voluminous writings, recordings, or photographs which cannot conveniently be examined in court may be presented in the form of a chart, summary, or calculation. The originals, or duplicates, shall be made available for examination or copying, or both, by other parties at a reasonable time and place. The court may order that they be produced in court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Jon Siddoway, ("Siddoway") formed Standard Tile, Inc. ("STI") in 1986 and, through 1989, owned either 99 or 100% of the stock of the corporation. Sometime prior to March of 1989, Siddoway approached Appellee, Lee O. Barney ("Barney") about joining Siddoway in working his current contracts and becoming a shareholder and

partner in STI. The parties discussed the terms and ultimately reached a verbal agreement concerning Barney's entry into STI sometime prior to March 31, 1989.

Some terms and details of that verbal agreement are in dispute. However it is not disputed that STI agreed to pay Barney's pre-existing debts; that Barney would receive the same pay for tile setting work as Siddoway; that Siddoway and Barney would each have the use of a company vehicle; that profits from STI would be paid in bonuses split 75/25 between Siddoway and Barney; and that Barney would have the option of purchasing up to 25% of STI with his bonus money at a rate of \$1000.00 per 1% of the outstanding stock of STI.

Siddoway managed the business, including administration of all finances and accounts for both businesses. Corporate accounting was done through an independent accounting firm and CPA named Tubber Okuda.

The parties had a falling out in February of 1996. In July of 1996 Barney filed a Complaint in the Third Judicial District Court seeking to recover unspecified damages allegedly owed to Barney by Siddoway in connection with the parties' business relationships. The Complaint also sought an accounting and corporate dissolution.

Siddoway filed a pre-trial motion in limine seeking to exclude newly-introduced damage summaries compiled by Barney's wife, Kristi Barney ("Mrs. Barney"). The summaries were made available to Siddoway at the final pretrial conference, just days prior to trial, and after Mrs. Barney's deposition and the close of discovery. Thus Siddoway was afforded no opportunity to cross-examine Mrs. Barney on the summaries

in deposition or any other discovery prior to trial. At trial, the court denied Siddoway's motion in limine.

A three day bench trial was held February 17-19, 1999. The trial was marred by constant interruptions, repeated instances of judicial examination of witnesses and preclusion of Siddoway's attempts to introduce evidence. The trial court took over examination of Siddoway and aggressively intimidated him with derisive comments about his character and his conduct of the business.

During the trial, the court received into evidence Mrs. Barney's damage summaries, and then improperly limited Siddoway's cross examination of Mrs. Barney on those summaries. The court also precluded testimony by the company accountant (Mr. Okuda) relating to those summaries, and then precluded Siddoway's counsel from examining Siddoway with regard to the content of Mrs. Barney's summaries.

The court ultimately drew upon Mrs. Barney's summaries to find that Barney had acquired 25 percent ownership of STI and that Barney was entitled to 50 percent of the assets taken from STI by Siddoway.

Appellant raised objections to the court's proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, but the objections were overruled by the trial court which signed its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as well as the Order and Judgment on June 7, 1989. Appellants now appeal from the court's order and entry of final judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Evidence Bearing on the Court's Erroneous Finding that Mr. Barney Acquired 25% Ownership in Standard Tile, Inc.

1. Mr. Siddoway testified that when Mr. Barney came to Standard Tile, the company paid off Mr. Barney's prior company debts which amounted to more than \$8,000.00 but less than \$12,000.00. (Transcript, p. 166). Those debts included material bills at Florida, Dowel Tile and Contempo as well as \$1,200 or \$2,000 in IRS taxes. (Transcript, p. 166).

2. Mr. Siddoway testified to his understanding that Mr. Barney's prior debts were paid off without obligation for repayment by Mr. Barney—"it was a cost of doing business." (Transcript, p. 167).

3. Mr. Barney testified that Standard Tile absorbed between \$3,000.00 and \$5,000.00 of Mr. Barney's prior debt, and that at the end of the first year Mr. Siddoway told him that he would have to pay back the debt before he could purchase stock with the remainder of his bonus. (Transcript, pp. 207-208).

4. Mr. Siddoway testified that for purposes of motivating Mr. Barney to increased attention to the good of the company, (Transcript, p. 164) he and Mr. Barney entered an agreement that Mr. Barney could purchase up to 25% of Standard Tile by paying \$1,000.00/share up to \$25,000.00 (Transcript, p. 99), and that Mr. Barney did not try to negotiate a different price for the stock and that Mr. Barney agreed to a 25% maximum purchase. (Transcript, pp. 158-159).

5. Mr. Barney testified that he agreed with Mr. Siddoway that he had the option to purchase up to 25% of Standard Tile for \$25,000.00 for \$1000.00 per percent. (Transcript, p. 236).

6. Mr. Okuda testified that he understood the agreement between Mr. Siddoway and Mr. Barney to be that Mr. Barney could buy up to 25% of Standard Tile at the rate of \$1,000.00/share. (Transcript, pp. 424-425).

7. Mr. Barney testified that near the end of the first year of his employment at Standard Tile, Mr. Siddoway told him that because the company had paid off Mr. Barney's debts, Mr. Barney would have to pay book value for company stock, with a company value of \$100,000.00. (Transcript, pp. 201-202).

8. Mr. Siddoway testified that Mr. Barney was told the terms and accepted them. (Transcript, pp. 167-168). Mr. Barney testified that he agreed to the purchase price of \$25,000.00. (Transcript, p. 202).

9. Mr. Siddoway testified that Mr. Barney made decisions with respect to when stock would be purchased. (Transcript, p. 481). Mr. Barney understood that the bonus money was his and he could use it to purchase stock or take the money. (Transcript, p. 484-85). On at least one occasion, Mr. Barney chose to apply his bonus to remodel work on his house. (Transcript, p. 481-82).

10. Mr. Siddoway testified that Mr. Barney chose to apply three of his bonuses to stock purchases. There were other bonuses he received and chose not to apply them to stock purchase. (Transcript, p. 482).

11. Mr. Siddoway testified that Mr. Barney told Mr. Siddoway how he wanted his bonuses handled, whether he wanted to purchase stock or apply the bonus to other things. (Transcript, p. 484). This decision making process occurred each time a bonus was declared. (Transcript, p. 485).

12. Mr. Barney testified that bonus checks were written out by Mr. Siddoway and handed to him with all the "information" on them and that he would then sign the check back over to Mr. Siddoway, without discussion. (Transcript, p. 204).

13. Mr. Barney testified that at the end of the second year he made his first stock purchase for approximately \$6,000.00 (Transcript, p. 210), but he could not remember the date of his second stock purchase. (Transcript, p. 211).

14. Mr. Okuda testified that Mr. Barney's first purchase of stock was November of 1990 when he paid a net total of \$1,500.00 toward stock in Standard Tile. (Transcript, p. 416). Mr. Barney's second stock purchase occurred December of 1990 when Mr. Barney was issued a bonus check of \$10,000.00 from which he paid \$7,000.00 to purchase stock. (Transcript, p. 416).

15. Mr. Okuda testified that Mr. Barney received a bonus for \$10,000.00 in December of 1994 from which \$3,900.00 was deducted for taxes, \$6,000.00 for stock purchase and Mr. Barney received a check for the balance of \$61.42. (Transcript, p. 420-21).

16. Mr. Okuda testified that both Mr. Barney and Mr. Siddoway consulted him in allocation of bonus money to stock purchases. (Transcript, p. 419).

17. Mr. Okuda testified that another bonus of \$7,500.00 was issued to Mr. Barney in 1995 however, after taxes and accounts receivable were deducted, for an unknown reason, the balance of \$5,370.00 was never distributed to Mr. Barney in a check. The money sits on the company books as a note payable to Mr. Barney for \$5,370.00. (Transcript, p. 421-22).¹⁴³.

18. Mr. Okuda Testified that loans to the company by either partner (such as bonuses left in the company) were classified in accounts 285 and 290. He further testified that loans or debits from the company accounts to Mr. Barney and Mr. Siddoway were tracked under account numbers 135 and 136. (Transcript, p. 427).

B. Evidence Bearing on the Court's Erroneous Qualification of Kristi Barney as an Expert Accounting Witness.

19. Kristi Barney testified that her only educational qualification to testify as an expert accountant was an associates degree in accounting from Mountain West Business College, which she received after attending school for a little more than a year. Her only work experience to qualify her as an expert was her work as a customer service agent for the United Parcel Service and as a book keeper for PFC, an equipment leasing firm. (Transcript, pp. 295-296). She also testified that she had worked for some accountants on a part-time basis doing tax returns. (Transcript, pp. 292). Most recently, she worked for three years for Larry H. Miller (auto businesses) as an office manager, where her duties included generating monthly financial statements. (Transcript, pp. 291-292).

20. Kristi Barney testified that she had no experience in preparing damage

summaries for litigation and had never been qualified in a court of law to testify as an expert on matters of accounting. (Transcript, p. 296).

21. Kristi Barney initially denied having been sued by her former employer PFC. Later, her counsel stipulated that she was in fact sued by her former employer, PFC. (Transcript, p. 297).

22. The Court then heard Defendant's proffer of documentation and testimony that would show Kristi Barney was sued by her former employer PFC in a suit arising from her having taken money from the company and that she confessed to judgment for the money owed. (Transcript, pp. 297-298).

C. Evidence Bearing on the Court's Erroneous Admission of Kristi Barney's Summaries of Excess Benefits, Including Exhibit 14.

Evidence as to Whether the Summaries Were Summaries of Business Records.

23. Kristi Barney testified that she prepared her summary of alleged personal benefits going to Mr. Siddoway based upon the bank statements, canceled checks, invoices, financial statements quarterly and annually, along with tax returns and depreciation schedules as well as information regarding real property which was subpoenaed from title companies. (Transcript, p. 293).

24. Kristi Barney testified that she attempted to summarize excess benefits taken by Mr. Siddoway from Standard Tile on Plaintiff's Exhibit 14 by reviewing financial statements and actual copies of checks and any back up documentation provided with the checks, going year by year from 1990 through 1996, listing checks, dates, the

payee and the account code from the company general ledger. (Transcript, pp. 299-302).

25. Kristi Barney testified that she did not review all the checks available in Standard Tile financial records in compiling her summary. (Transcript, pp. 302, 328).

26. Kristi Barney testified that in preparing her summary of excess personal benefits to Mr. Siddoway, she only looked at things which looked like they were personal expenses of Mr. Siddoway. (Transcript, p. 302).

27. Kristi Barney testified that 290 was a payable account, meaning that it was a liability to the company—a debt that the company must pay to Mr. Siddoway. She stated that there were many entries going back and forth, both debit and credit entries which became a little confusing. (Transcript, p. 315).

28. Kristi Barney testified that there were many more journal entries than what she included in her summary. (Transcript, p. 316).

29. Kristi Barney then testified to certain entries made which she had been unable to explain by supporting documentation, including: an entry showing that Mr. Siddoway loaned the company \$4,500.00 (Transcript, p. 317); several other loans in the first four entries which represented loans from Mr. Siddoway to the company (Transcript, p. 318).

30. Kristi Barney testified that her summary of unequal personal benefits was based upon her assumption that Mr. Barney should receive a commensurate, equal benefit in every respect from the corporation that Mr. Siddoway received. That assumption was based on what her husband had told her about the agreement. (Transcript, p. 336).

31. Kristi Barney testified that when she was unable to locate supporting documentation for a check which she listed as a personal benefit to Mr. Siddoway, she had no idea of the purpose of the check and would be speculating if asked to state a purpose for such a check. (Transcript, pp. 340-341).

32. Kristi Barney testified that she had performed her calculations assuming a 25/75% ownership relationship from the very beginning of the parties' relationship even though stock was not purchased by Mr. Barney until later. (Transcript, p. 340).

33. Kristi Barney testified that she had looked for all checks that were paid for either partner, (Transcript, p. 342), and that she made a summary of Mr. Barney's notes payable and receivable from Standard Tile but did not include that summary in the Court summary. (Transcript, p. 342).

34. Kristi Barney testified that she did not list checks in her summary which indicated a benefit to Mr. Barney. (Transcript, p. 342).

Evidence as to Whether Kristi Barney Had any Probative Knowledge of the Contents of the Summaries.

35. Kristi Barney testified that after reviewing the payroll records of officer's compensation she listed an excess of \$13,489 in excess salary and bonuses to Mr. Siddoway. (Transcript, p. 378). But she admitted not knowing how much of alleged excess compensation of \$13,489.00 she attributed to Mr. Siddoway might have been bonus money to which he was entitled as a 75% owner. (Transcript, pp. 378-379).

36. Kristi Barney testified that she had questions about some entries that she

could find no explanation for—where she could see things went from one account to another but wasn't able to tell why. (Transcript, p. 315).

37. Kristi Barney admitted that she had not way to verify whether or not an electronic key pad installed on Mr. Siddoway's home garage was for purposes of allowing employees access to the garage to pick up job materials stored there. (Transcript, p. 342).

38. Kristi Barney testified that she was not aware that money paid to The Sports Club was for fishing supplies attendant to a company promotional fishing trip for employees, customers and potential customers. (Transcript, p. 344).

39. Kristi Barney admitted that she did not know from personal knowledge that Mr. Siddoway had sold Jazz tickets and did not know what year it might have happened and did not know for what price the tickets were allegedly sold. (Transcript, pp. 354-355).

40. Kristi Barney admitted a lack of knowledge as to the actual make, model, year or use of the fax machine or other office equipment she had estimated and attributed as a personal benefit to Mr. Siddoway. (Transcript, pp. 365-367).

41. Kristi Barney testified that with regards to her summary listed as Plaintiff's exhibit 20, her review of the company records did not permit her to determine what was or was not a justifiable expense. (Transcript, p. 397).

Evidence As to Whether the Summaries Improperly Selected Only Information From Business Records That Disclosed Mr. Siddoway's Transactions and Disregarded Mr. Barney's Transactions.

42. Kristi Barney admitted that Standard Tile paid for a fireplace insert in her home but did not include the transaction in any Summary. (Transcript, p. 342).

43. Kristi Barney admitted that Standard Tile paid for stucco and electrical work on the Barney's residence, and for remodeling work to create a home office and bedroom in the garage, but that she did not attempt to calculate the value of those improvements for purposes of her summaries of benefits to Mr. Siddoway. (Transcript, p. 343).

44. Kristi Barney admitted that Standard Tile paid for and maintained her husband's truck while he was employed there but that she did not attempt to calculate the value of that benefit in her summary to the Court. (Transcript, p. 344).

45. Kristi Barney admitted that she included a check for \$4,950.00 to Pacific Charters as a personal benefit to Mr. Siddoway even though she knew about the company's promotional fishing trip which her husband, Mr. Barney, went on. (Transcript, p. 345).

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