1999

Lee O. Barney v. Jon D. Siddoway and Standard Tile, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Because this is an issue of fact which Siddoway disputes, Siddoway has the burden on appeal of marshalling the evidence. See Young v. Young, 979 P.2d 338 (Utah 1999), and Valcarce v. Fitzgerald, 961 P.2d 305 (Utah 1998). Siddoway has failed to marshal the evidence in support of the trial court’s decision. The evidence presented which supports the Court’s decision included the agreement of the parties that Barney would become a 25 percent interest holder or “partner” of Siddoway and STI (Record No. 736 & 737; Transcript pp. 201 and 459). Siddoway testified that the \$25,000.00 for 25 percent of Standard Tile was based on the companies book value of

\$100,000.00 as of 1989 (Record No. 735; Transcript pp. 99-100). Barney testified that the original agreement did not involve paying for the stock, but this was something that was brought up after the fact (Record No. 735; Transcript pp. 101-102).

Siddoway said the purchase price for the stock i.e. \$25,000.00, was based on the book value and that he contacted the accountant to "ask him about what it was worth" (Record No. 735; Transcript p. 100). Mr. Okuda, the company accountant, testified that the book value of the entire company in 1989 was \$22,000.00 not \$100,000.00. (Record No. 737; Transcript pp. 476, 477, & 538). Mr. Okuda went on to testify that in 1990, the companies book value had only increased to approximately \$39,000.00.

Siddoway attempts to argue in his brief that Barney only purchased 14.5 percent of the stock. Siddoway testified, however, that the accountant had calculated Barney's ownership interest in the stock for which \$14,500.00 had been paid, as an ownership of 16.2 percent (Record No. 735; Transcript p. 104-105). Mr. Okuda testified to the same thing and in fact Siddoway introduced an exhibit through Mr. Okuda (Exhibit 25, attached as part of the addendum), which shows stock ownership at 16.2 percent for the \$14,500.00 paid (Record No. 737; Transcript pp. 424-425).

Barney was also to have received a net bonus as of December 31, 1995, in the amount of \$5,370.00 (Record No. 737; Transcript pp. 420-422; Exhibit 24 & 25).

Barney was never paid this money, but based on the way the parties had always treated bonuses, that \$5,370.00 should have been applied to the purchase of stock, and the Court so found (Finding No. 16). Mr. Okuda also admitted that Defendant's Exhibit 25

had been prepared at or near the time of trial (Record No. 737; Transcript p. 415).

Based on Okuda's accounting, Barney should have acquired approximately 22.6 percent of the stock. Siddoway also received benefits far in excess of the purchase price of the stock.

Barney had no discretion in deciding which bonuses would go toward purchase stock and which bonuses would be utilized to fund the purchase of the S&B Storage partnership property.

Barney received no bonus in 1989, and Siddoway received additional income and bonuses in 1989, contrary to the agreement of the parties (Exhibit 17; Record No. 735 & 736; Transcript pp. 41 & 311). The Court properly and equitably found that Barney was a 25 percent interest owner in STI.

II. KRISTI BARNEY HAS THE REQUISITE KNOWLEDGE, TRAINING, AND UNDERSTANDING TO OFFER EVIDENCE ON ACCOUNTING MATTERS.

The matter of qualification of an expert witness lies in the discretion of the Court. State v. Locke, 688 P.2d 464 (Utah 1984).

Formal training or education is not a prerequisite to giving expert opinion: a witness may qualify as an expert by virtue of experience or training. Randle v. Allen, 862 P.2d 1329 (Utah 1993).

Mrs. Barney testified that she had obtained an associates degree in accounting and had also worked in the accounting area for a number of years (Record No. 736; Transcript pp. 291-293). Mrs. Barney also indicated that she was familiar with tax

returns, financial documents, general ledgers, etc. and in fact had prepared such documents in the course of her employment (Record No. 736; Transcript pp. 291 & 292). Mrs. Barney's testimony was based on summaries which she prepared after examining voluminous business records of STI.

Consistent with Rule 702 of the Utah Rules of Evidence, Mrs. Barney testified regarding a fact in issue, i.e. did Jon Siddoway take excess benefits and salary from STI. in violation of his agreement with Lee Barney. Mrs. Barney had the requisite knowledge and skill to examine the business records of STI and formulate the summaries introduced including Exhibits 14, 15, and 17. Siddoway, in his brief, uses the term "forensic or investigative auditor." Siddoway however, offers no case or statute requiring a "forensic or investigative auditor" be used in a case like this or what those terms even mean and or the qualifications necessary to be considered a "forensic or investigative auditor."

Mrs. Barney's experience or lack of experience in the accounting area goes to the weight of her testimony, but certainly not to her qualifications.

The Court properly concluded that Mrs. Barney's experience was sufficient to allow her to examine the books and records and provide the summaries which were introduced as evidence. Siddoway failed to put on any rebuttal evidence to Exhibit 14 and Exhibit 17.

III. THE COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED INTRODUCTION OF THE SUMMARIES SPECIFICALLY EXHIBITS 14 THROUGH 20.

It should be noted that Barney brought this action against Siddoway seeking an accounting for both the partnership and the corporation, inasmuch as Siddoway was in total control of both. Barney also brought the action for breach of fiduciary duty.

Barney put on sufficient evidence to establish a prima facie case. The burden then shifted to Siddoway to account and show he dealt fairly with Barney.

It is clear the parties had an agreement and that Siddoway breached that agreement. Exhibit 14, regarding the excess benefits taken by Siddoway, is perhaps the best example of the breach of the agreement. Barney and Siddoway both testified as to what their agreement was and the Court chose to believe Barney over Siddoway. In preparing the exhibits, none of the companies books and records for 1989 were available, not even the general ledger. For 1990, only the general ledger was available. Siddoway's arguments under point III, beginning on page 27 of his brief, is really addressed to Exhibit 14, which is captioned "Summary of Excess Benefits Taken by Siddoway From Standard Tile." The checks and invoices for 1991 were also not available, but for the years 1992 forward, copies of all of the checks, check vouchers, and invoices, if any were attached to the checks, were provided. In cross-examining Mrs. Barney, Siddoway's counsel only asked questions about Exhibit 14 regarding the 1990 and 1991 information.

The Court did not award Barney specific damages as it relates to Exhibit 14 except to give Barney some small credit sufficient to bring him up to the 25 percent

ownership of stock.

Specific examples of Siddoway taking excess benefits, as demonstrated on Exhibit 14 as well as other exhibits and testimony in the record, clearly shows an excess of benefits sufficient to meet the stock issue.

Some of the most obvious examples include:

1. Check no. 2787, on January 4, 1990, to Dart, Adamson & Casting, in the amount of \$2,000.00, represents a payment taken from the STI account to pay Siddoway's attorneys representing him in a custody battle with his first wife. Siddoway admitted this (Record No. 735; Transcript p. 147).
2. Purchase of Jazz season tickets, as set forth on Exhibit 14, are another example, and the Court concluded, based on Siddoway's testimony and the testimony of Mr. and Mrs. Barney, that Siddoway received excess benefits with respect to using the Jazz tickets and or selling them and taking the money (Record No. 735; Transcript pp. 148-149).
3. Siddoway also purchased a disability policy to provide him income if for some reason he should become disabled. Mr. Barney did not have a similar benefit (Record No. 735; Transcript pp. 139-140).

The Court concluded that the payments on the Lincoln Continental automobile utilized by Dawn Siddoway, Siddoway's second wife, was an improper benefit to Siddoway. Exhibit 14 demonstrates that insurance and repairs were also made on a Chevrolet Corsica which belonged to Dawn Siddoway prior to the purchase of the

Lincoln Continental. Insurance and repairs on the Continental were also paid for by STI.

STI should not have been paying for insurance and repairs on a Chevrolet Corseca. Most of these entries have invoices attached, but these charges were never passed through to Siddoway requiring him to reimburse the company (Record No. 735; Transcript pp. 144-147). In 1992, Jon Siddoway and Dawn Siddoway were building a new home and a substantial number of charges paid for by STI showed delivery made to the Siddoway home. Indeed, much discussion was had about a garage door and key pad installed in the Siddoway home. When the Court asked Mr. Okuda, the company accountant, if this was a proper charge (Record No. 737; Transcript p. 446). Mr. Okuda stated that this would not be a proper business expense.

Siddoway paid all of his personal medical expenses for his entire family through STI. Again Barney did not receive a similar benefit (Record No. 735; Transcript pp. 140-141). Standard Tile paid all of the charges on the Visa Gold card held by Dawn Siddoway and as set forth in Exhibit 14, many of these expenses on that credit card related to the purchase of gasoline in Hanksville, Utah, Bullfrog Marina, and were for the Siddoway's personal vacations to Lake Powell.

In 1994, at the bottom of page 9 of Exhibit 14, Siddoway purchased a Jacuzzi or "spa" for his personal residence and classified the same as medical expenses under the specific account code 637 for STI. Because of the parties agreement, Barney was entitled to an equal share of the benefits provided to Siddoway. Exhibit 14 asks for 25

percent of \$247,000.00. The proper figure should have been 50 percent of \$247,000.00. The Court perhaps gave Barney only \$5,100.00 worth of credit which was applied toward the purchase of stock in arriving at the 25 percent stock figure. It would seem therefore that even if it was error to admit the summary, it was clearly harmless error within the meaning of Rule 61 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Siddoway in his own testimony admits taking the benefits listed above.

Siddoway, by and through his accountant Mr. Okuda, offered into evidence Defendant's Exhibit 27, which is a summary of accounts 135 and 136 in the general ledger of STI. Account 135 is the loan receivable from Jon Siddoway and account 136 is the loan receivable from Lee Barney. (Record No. 737; Transcript pp. 426-432). This document perhaps was offered to rebut Exhibit 14. The entries on Exhibit 14, however, are separate, apart from, and distinct from all of the entries on Exhibit 27. The entries on Exhibit 14 show benefits taken by Siddoway which were not passed through and shown as a debt from Siddoway to the corporation (See Exhibits 5 & 7).

Mrs. Barney, with her experience in accounting, preparing financial statements, preparing tax returns, etc. clearly has a working knowledge of what is or should be considered a proper business expense and what is a personal expense.

The company accountant, Mr. Okuda, also agreed that personal expenses should not be paid for through the corporation (Record No. 737; Transcript p. 433). Again it should be noted, however, that Siddoway was in complete control of the financial matters of the corporation. Lee Barney did not have the authority to sign checks for the

corporation and had no input on deciding what bills could or should be paid. When asked, Siddoway denied that he was the party that assigned specific accounting codes to specific expenses (Record No. 735; Transcript pp. 137-139).

When Mr. Okuda, the company accountant, was asked, he testified that Siddoway was the one who assigned the account codes to the business expenses and that he (Mr. Okuda) never examined any of the checks or invoices to determine the propriety of business expenses (Record No. 737; Transcript pp. 403 & 405).

With respect to Siddoway's arguments that Exhibit 14 and the other summaries do not satisfy Rule 1006 of the Utah Rules of Evidence, Siddoway is simply mistaken.

Rule 1006 provides:

"The contents of voluminous writings, recordings, or photographs which cannot conveniently be examined in court may be presented in the form of a chart, summary, or calculation. The originals, or duplicates, shall be made available for examination or copying, or both, by other parties at a reasonable time and place. The court may order that they be produced in court."

Nothing in Rule 1006 requires that a summary of business records summarize everything in the business records. To do so would involve more than the financial statements, balance sheets, and general ledger of the company. All of the business records were in the possession of Siddoway and Siddoway is the individual who prepared the checks, attached invoices to the checks, and supplied the accounting codes on the checks themselves. Mr. Okuda, as the companies accountant, prepared the financial statements and general ledger for the company based on information provided

by Siddoway.

The duplicates of the company records, which Mrs. Barney utilized, were available in court. Siddoway brought to court the original documents and those were available for examination and copying.

Siddoway also attempts to argue that the summaries are improper because they do not contain a summary of the benefits received by Mr. Barney. Defendant's Exhibit 27, however, specifically those entries under account 136, demonstrate the checks Barney received and which he had to reimburse the company for out of his bonuses. Barney received no other benefits than those listed in Exhibit 27 under account 136. Siddoway's account 135, should look very similar to Barney's account 136. Exhibit 14, however, demonstrates all of the additional benefits received by Siddoway which were not included in his account 135. The attorney fees for his custody battle, Jazz tickets, gas, insurance, and repairs for the automobile driven by Dawn Siddoway are not included in account 135 or Exhibit 27. Siddoway's disability insurance is not included in Exhibit 27. The spa or jacuzzi installed at the Siddoway home is not included in account 135 or on Exhibit 27, nor are deliveries of building materials to the Siddoway home included on Defendant's Exhibit 27 (A copy of Exhibit 27 is attached as part of the Addendum).

Clearly given the check numbers, account codes, etc. Mr. Siddoway himself could have been personally examined either by the Plaintiff or by his own counsel

regarding each one of the transactions listed thereon. A copy of the check and the invoice for each check could have been introduced as evidence, but that would defeat the entire purpose of Rule 1006 of the Rules of Evidence.

The trial court has a certain degree of discretion in controlling the method and manner in which evidence can come in and be presented. The trial court, as a trier of fact in a bench trial, has somewhat more latitude in this regard. See Rules 102, 103, 104 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. See also Super Tire Market Inc. v. Rollins, 417 P.2d 132 (Utah 1966) and State Dept. of Social Services v. Ruscetta, 742 P.2d 114 (Utah Ct. App. 1978).

Siddoway's argument with respect to Exhibit 15, the value of the equipment, was clarified because both Mr. Barney and Mr. Siddoway testified regarding the exhibits and the equipment owned by the company. Any admission of Exhibit 15 to the extent it relied on Mrs. Expertise, therefore would be harmless error.

Plaintiff's Exhibit 16 is a summary of closing documents for real property owned by STI. The Court chose not to rely on Exhibit 16 to award damages. The Court did, however, rely on other documents, primarily the testimony and financial statements of STI to award damages as it related to the property (See Exhibits 5 & 7). Admission of Exhibit 16 therefore is at best harmless error as well. Siddoway does not dispute the evidence or information contained in Plaintiff's Exhibit 17, the summary of excess wages taken by Siddoway in breach of the agreement between he and Mr. Barney.

Siddoway attempts to attack Exhibit 19 on the basis that it summarizes payments made on the Lincoln Continental automobile which was used for the Siddoways personally. The same information is contained in Exhibit 5, the annual statement from STI for the period ending December 31, 1995, and Exhibit 7, the financial statement for the period ending December 31, 1994. There was also considerable other testimony relative to the Lincoln Continental automobile, who used the automobile, and what Mrs. Siddoway's relationship to the company was (Record No. 735 & 737; Transcript pp. 144-146, 561 & 562).

Therefore even if Exhibit 19 was improper, it was also harmless error because there was additional evidence to support the Court's ruling. The Court did not have to rely on Exhibit 19 to make an award of judgment of \$6,201.10 relative to the Lincoln Continental automobile.

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